國立台灣大學獸醫專業學院臨床動物醫學研究所

碩士論文

Graduate Institute of Veterinary Clinical Science School of Veterinary Medicine National Taiwan University Master Thesis

台灣伴侶動物A型流行性感冒病毒之鑑定

Identification of Influenza A Virus in Companion Animals

in Taiwan

林慧亭

Hui-Ting Lin

指導老師:王儷蒨 博士

Advisor: Lih-Chiann Wang, Ph.D.

中華民國 103 年 6 月

June 2014



國立臺灣大學(碩)博士學位論文 口試委員會審定書

台灣伴侶動物 A 型流行性感冒病毒之鑑定 Identification of Influenza A Virus in Companion Animals in Taiwan

本論文係林慧亭(R01643010)在國立臺灣大學獸醫專 業學院臨床動物醫學研究所完成之碩(博)士學位論文,於 民國一百零三年六月二十七日承下列考試委員審查通過及 口試及格,特此證明

口試委員:	之儒祷	(簽名)
	かって としく	王宝和
	J .	
	12	
糸主任、所長	2 727	(簽名)

I

致謝



感謝幫助我完成這份研究的所有人

谢谢老師、醫生、動物們

謝謝我最愛的家人們,

謝謝兵宗穎的陪伴,謝謝你們包容我這三年來的固執和任性

將這份研究獻給28歲的自己,

希望仍對未來趕到迷惘的她,

帶著完成這篇研究的毅力和勇氣,繼續走下去

中文摘要

A型流行性感冒病毒在染伴侶動物犬和貓的感染報告非常少,然而近來許多A 型流感病毒陸續從患有呼吸道疾病之犬貓被分離出來,部份亞型已經被證實可持 續性在犬之間傳播。但在台灣的伴侶動物研究中,目前並無相關的 A 型流感病毒 報告。本研究目的是以血清抗體檢測法及基因檢測法來調查臺灣地區伴侶動物 A 型流感病毒感染情形。以 Blocking ELISA 血清抗體檢測結果,台大動物醫院就診 之家犬血清檢體,陽性率為 1.1% (3/281);北中南等鄉村縣市,採集放養犬隻的血 清檢體,陽性率則為 3.1% (6/193)。針對 H6 亞型 A 型流感病毒的血清凝集抑制試 驗 (HI) 結果發現 9 隻 blocking ELISA 的陽性檢體中,有 3 隻測得為 HI H6 亞型陽 性。One-step RT-PCR 檢測部份,犬 126 隻檢體中有 4 隻為陽性,陽性率為 2.1% (4/185)。PCR 陽性檢體中,成功從一隻有呼吸道症狀的病犬分離出 A 型流感病毒, 命名為 A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 (H6N1),此為世界首例犬 H6N1 自然感染之發 現。此外,研究也分離出一起台灣雪貂自然感染 H1N1 新型流感之病例。研究結 果顯示台灣伴侶動物確實存在 A 型流行性感冒病毒之感染,依據血清抗體和病毒 基因檢測之陽性率,推測台灣大流感病毒感染情形仍屬與散發性 (sporadic)流行 病,但未來仍有必要進一步對伴侶動 A 型流行性感冒持續的監控。

關鍵詞:禽流感、犬、雪貂、H6N1、A 型流行性感冒病毒、H1N1 新型流感

Abstract

Influenza was not considered an infectious disease in companion animals before However, many subtypes of influenza A viruses have been isolated from dogs and cats around the world recently, such as H3N8, H3N2, H5N1, H5N2 and H1N1. Canine influenza virus (CIV) H3N8 and H3N2 subtypes were confirmed to be transmissible among dogs. The aim of this study was to investigate the prevalence of influenza A virus infection in companion animals in Taiwan using serological survey and one-step RT-PCR detection. Using blocking ELISA assay (bELISA), our results showed that the seroprevalence of pet dogs and rural free-ranging dogs was 1.1% (3/281) and 3.1% (6/193), respectively. The hemagglutination inhibition assay against avian H6 subtype also showed the presence of H6 antibody in three of nine bELISA positive serum samples. Furthermore, 2.1% (4/185) of positive RT-PCR detection in nasal swab samples were found in dogs. Among these four positive cases, an avian-origin influenza A virus was successfully isolated and designated as A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 (H6N1). It was the world's first report on dog naturally infected with an avian influenza H6N1 virus. Besides, we also identified a natural infection of influenza A(H1N1)pdm09 virus in a pet ferret in Taiwan. The results of this study indicated that the influenza A virus indeed exists in companion animals in Taiwan. According to the positive rate of influenza A antibody survey and nucleic acid detection, CIV infection in Taiwan belongs to sporadic cases, However, continual surveillance for influenza A virus infection in companion animals is still suggested.

Key words: Avian influenza virus, Canine, Ferret, H6N1, Influenza A virus, Influenza

A(H1N1)pdm09 virus

Introduction

Influenza A virus belongs to family *Orthomyxoviridae* containing eight separate strand RNA segments and an envelope. Nowadays at least 18 HA and 11 NA subtypes have been identified based on hemagglutinin (HA) and neuraminidase (NA) on the surface of virus (Tong *et al.*, 2013). Shorebirds and waterfowl are considered reservoir of most influenza A virus subtypes, except H17, H18, N10 and N11 which were identified in bats (Wu *et al.*, 2014). Influenza A virus has wide host range and circulates in birds and some mammalian species. The genetic reassortment between animals and humans viruses may result in emerging new influenza subtypes in human population and cause an outbreak, such as influenza A(H1N1)pdm09. Avian influenza H5N1 and H7N9 are able to transmit to humans naturally (Claas *et al.*, 1998; Gao *et al.*, 2013). Influenza A virus is an important well-known zoonotic pathogen in the world (Lipatov *et al.*, 2004).

Previous studies of influenza A virus infection in mammals usually focused on human, swine, and horses. Companion animals were considered less susceptible with influenza A virus infection. However, the unusual fatal H5N1 virus infections in domestic dogs, cats and zoo felids were reported during the outbreak period of the avian influenza A (H5N1) virus in Asia during 2003-2004 (Keawcharoen *et al.*, 2004; Kuiken *et al.*, 2004; Songserm *et al.*, 2006a; Songserm *et al.*, 2006b). Meanwhile, canine influenza H3N8 subtype was first identified in the Unite State. Soon after, avian-origin H3N2 was also isolated from dogs in Korea (Song *et al.*, 2008). Hereafter, more and more studies reported the presence of antibodies against human or canine influenza viruses in dogs and cats (Dundon *et al.*, 2010; Kruth *et al.*, 2008; Lee *et al.*, 2009; McCullers *et al.*, 2011; Piccirillo *et al.*, 2010; Seiler *et al.*, 2010). These data indicated that dogs may play a role in the epidemiology of influenza A virus infection. Nevertheless, there is limited information about influenza A virus infection in companion animals in Taiwan.

Here we performed the serological and RT-PCR screening surveillance of influenza infection from 2012 to 2014 to address the possibility of influenza A virus infection in companion animals in Taiwan. Molecular analysis and the phylogenetic tree construction on the canine and ferret virus were also conducted. This study may provide further information of influenza A virus infection in companion animals and would help with the disease prevention in the future.

Contents	
口試委員審定書	I.
致謝	
中文摘要	
Abstract	IV
Introduction	V
Contents	VII
List of Tables	XI
List of Illustrations	XII
1. Literature reviews	1
1.1 Influenza A virus	1
1.1.1 Orthomyxoviridae	1
1.1.2 Genome structure of influenza A virus	1
1.1.3 Subtypes and nomenclature	2
1.1.4 Ecology of influenza A viruses	2
1.1.5 The sialic acid receptor	
1.1.6 Pandemic influenza	4
1.2 Influenza A virus in dogs	5

大道室」
1.2.1 Equine origin canine influenza A virus (H3N8)
1.2.2 Avian origin canine influenza A virus (H3N2)6
1.2.3 Highly pathogenicity avian influenza (H5N1)
1.2.4 Influenza A(H1N1)pdm09 virus7
1.2.5 H3N1 and H5N2 subtypes
1.3 Influenza in ferrets9
1.4 Diagnosis of influenza A virus infection10
1.5 Treatment and prevention of influenza A virus infection in companion
animals12
2. Identification of dog H6N1 infection through avian influenza survey in Taiwan13
2.1 Abstract
2.2 Introduction14
2.3 Materials methods 15
2.3.1 Serum specimen collection15
2.3.2 Influenza A virus antibody detection15
2.3.3 Hemagglutination inhibition assay16
2.3.4 Nasal swab specimen collection 17
2.3.5 RNA extraction
2.3.6 Influenza A virus detection18

· 雅 雅 达
2.3.7 Virus isolation 19
2.3.8 Neucleotide sequencing and phylogenetic analysis
2.3.9 Statistical analysis
2.4 Results
2.4.1 Serological surveillance
2.4.2 Virus detection and isolation
2.4.3 Clinical findings of positive virus cases detected using RT-PCR 22
2.4.4 Sequence analyses of A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014
2.4.5 Molecular characterization of A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 23
2.4.6 Phylogenetic analysis
2.5 Discussion
3. Natural infection case of influenza A(H1N1)pdm09 virus in a pet ferret in
Taiwan 45
3.1 Abstract 45
3.2 Case introduction 45
3.3 Materials and methods 48
3.4 Results
3.4.1 Phylogenetic analysis 49
3.4.2 Molecular characterizations of A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013 50

3.5 Discussion	
4. Conclusion	
5. References	

List of Tables



Table 2-1 . Homology of nucleotide sequence of A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 (H6N1)
isolated in Taiwan compared with related sequence in GISAID
Table 2-2 . Molecular characterizations comparison between A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014
and A/Taiwan/2/2013
Table 2-3 . Sequence alignment of the different sites of the PB2 gene. Amino acid sites
differ from the 2012/2013 H6N1 viruses
Table 2-4 . Amino acid sequence alignment of the different sites of the HA gene 34-35

List of Illustrations



A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 and other avian influenza virus lineages. HA gene of A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 is clustered with H6N1 strains isolated from 2012 to 2013 in Taiwan. It was conducted using maximum likelihood with bootstrap analysis with 1,000 replications. Only branches with bootstrap values of more than 75% are denoted on the phylogenetic tree. Scale bar indicates

Figure 2-2. Phylogenetic relationship between the complete NA genes of

A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 and other avian influenza virus lineages. NA gene of A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 is clustered with H6N1 strains isolated from 2012 to 2013 in Taiwan. It was conducted using maximum likelihood with bootstrap analysis with 1,000 replications. Only branches with bootstrap values of more than 75% are denoted on the phylogenetic tree. Scale bar indicates

Figure 2-3. (A) Phylogenetic relationship between the complete PB2 genes of A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 and other avian influenza virus lineages. (B) Phylogenetic relationship between the complete PB1 genes of

A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 and other avian influenza A virus lineages. (F)

Phylogenetic relationship between the complete NS genes of

Figure 2-6. Sequence alignment of amplified DNA using primers M52C/M253R.

Sample number 140 and 175 were two of three partial M gene sequences

(199bp, without 45 nucleotides at the primer M52/M253R binding site) that

failed to isolate viruses from remaining nasal swab suspended solutions.

Alignment results show five nucleotides differences, compared to

- Figure 3-3. Phylogenetic tree of complete NA gene of A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013 with other influenza A virus lineages. A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013 is grouped with

Figure 3-4. (A) Phylogenetic tree of complete M gene of A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013 with other influenza A virus lineages. (B) Phylogenetic tree of complete PB2 gene of A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013 with other influenza A virus lineages.

A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013 is grouped with A(H1N1)pdm09 viruses. It was

conducted using maximum likelihood with bootstrap analysis with 1,000

replications. Only branches with bootstrap values of more than 75% are

- Figure 3-6. (E) Phylogenetic tree of complete NP gene of A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013 with other influenza A virus lineages. (F) Phylogenetic tree of complete NS

1. Literature reviews



1.1 Influenza A virus

1.1.1 Orthomyxoviridae

Influenza viruses are enveloped viruses belonging to *Orthomyxoviridae* family *Orthomyxoviridae* family includes five different genera: influenza A, B and C; Thogotovirus; and Isavirus. Variation in influenza viruses is induced by the accumulation of nucleic acid point mutations (antigenic drift) during replication and genetic reassortment between two different influenza strains in the same cell. The new generated virus may have different host ranges comparing to the original strain (Cox and Subbarao, 2000; Lamb and Krug, 2001). Based on the nucleoprotein, influenza viruses can be classified as type A, B and C. Influenza A viruses have caused significant mobility and mortality of human from past to the present (Cox and Subbarao, 2000).

1.1.2 Genome structure of influenza A virus

The genome of influenza A virus contains eight negative, separate segmented RNAs which are translated into 11 proteins. The virus particle is about 80 to120 nanometers in diameter and usually spherical or filamentous in the shape. The hemaglutinin (HA), neuraminidase (NA) and matrix protein 2 (M2) project from virus surface. Matrix protein 1 (M1) is laid under the envelope. The polymerase proteins contains polymerase basic 1 (PB1), polymerase basic 2 (PB2), and polymerase acid (PA). Other proteins include nucleoprotein (NP) which is located in the core of the virus particles and the non-structural proteins of nuclear export/nonstructural protein 2 (NEP/NS2) (Lamb and Krug, 2001).

1.1.3 Subtypes and nomenclature

Based on the hemaglutinin and neuraminidase which project on the envelope as spike, 18 different serotypes of HA and 11 different serotypes of NA have been identified (Tong *et al.*, 2013). Influenza A viruses are classified by these two surface glycoproteins, such as H1N1 and H5N1 subtypes. The nomenclature of a specific influenza strain is identified by virus type, host type (omission of isolation from human), geographical origin, strain number, year of isolation and HA/NA subtype. For example: A/California/04/2009 (H1N1) was influenza A virus isolated from human in California in 2009 with strain number of 04 (Wright and Webster, 2001).

1.1.4 Ecology of influenza A viruses

Wild waterfowl are considered the natural host of most known influenza A viruses (Webster *et al.*, 1992). Viruses replicate in the bird's intestinal mucosa and/or respiratory epithelium, and shed viruses in fecal or respiratory discharge (Webster *et al.*, 1978). Most of these infections are caused by low pathogenicity avian influenza (LPAI) viruses. Mild respiratory distress, decreased egg production in chickens and turkeys may be observed, but it can be asymptomatic in ducks. However, H5 or H7 subtypes can mutate to become highly pathogenicity avian influenza (HPAI) viruses. HPAI viruses infection could cause severe clinical respiratory signs, organ hemorrhage and death (Beeler, 2009). Avian influenza A viruses had also been isolated from many animals, include seals, whales, horses, and pigs (Cox and Subbarao, 2000; Lagace-Wiens *et al.*, 2010).

1.1.5 The sialic acid receptor

Influenza A viral HA binds to the sialic acid receptor on the host tracheal epithelium. Avian influenza viruses bind to receptor glycolipids which possess sialylgalactosyl residues with α 2, 3-gal linkages (SA α 2, 3-gal), whereas human influenza A viruses bind to SA α 2, 6-gal linkages (Suzuki, 2005). Therefore, it is limited for avian-adapted viruses to replicate in human host and cause sustained human outbreak without appropriate genetic alterations. Receptor specificity is considered to be an important species barrier (Cox and Subbarao, 2000). However, pigs which have α 2, 3-gal and α 2, 6-gal sialic acid receptors in the tracheal epithelium may be the intermediate hosts for reassortment of avian and mammalian species. This phenomenon causes the concern of pandemic potential risk of novel influenza A viruses (Cox and Subbarao, 2000; Lagace-Wiens et al., 2010).



1.1.6 Pandemic influenza

Swine and birds have been considered playing roles in generation of influenza pandemics. Avian and swine influenza are prominently involved in the history of influenza pandemics over four centuries (Lagace-Wiens et al., 2010). In human history, there were three major pandemics in 20th century and one pandemic record in 2009: the 1918 to 1919 pandemic H1N1, the 1957 to 1958 pandemic H2N2, the 1968 pandemic H3N2, and the 2009 pandemic H1N1(Beeler, 2009; Cox and Subbarao, 2000; Lagace-Wiens et al., 2010). These pandemic events had swine/avian origin and different epidemiologic patterns. For example, the 1918 pandemic H1N1 virus was thought to be a human/swine reassortment event which caused the most severe disease outbreaks in human history (dos Reis et al., 2009). In 1974, influenza H2N2 pandemic began in Asia. This virus was originated from a single reassortment event between avian and human H1N1(Lagace-Wiens et al., 2010). In 1968, a reassortment between avian H3 and human H2N2 generated a novel H3N2 viruses. It was also observed the extinction of H2N2 viruses after the outbreak of H3N2 in human populations (Cox and Subbarao, 2000). And in 2009, the novel H1N1 virus which was thought to be the triple-reassortment event with elements originating from Eurasia swine, north American

swine, avian and human led to the pandemic outbreaks in the world (Dawood *et al.*, 2009; Shinde *et al.*, 2009). In addition to these pandemic outbreaks, several influenza subtypes of avian origin could become the next pandemic strains. For example, there were several case reports about avian HPAI H5N1 and H7N9 infections in humans (Gao *et al.*, 2013; Peiris *et al.*, 2007; Uyeki and Cox, 2013). Concern for the emergence of a new pandemic is necessary even now there is no enough evidence of human to human transmission (Uyeki and Cox, 2013).

1.2 Influenza A virus in dogs

1.2.1 Equine origin canine influenza A virus (H3N8)

Canine influenza virus (CIV) H3N8 subtype was first isolated from the lung tissue of greyhounds in Florida in 2004. Eight gene segments were identified as an equine influenza virus origin with a unique lineage of H3N8 influenza virus (Crawford *et al.*, 2005). Direct contact, intake or inhalation of infectious droplets through nasal or oral mucosa was considered to be the route of transmission. Transmission of H3N8 from dogs to dogs was confirmed by virus isolation and serologic researches in 2005 (Brankston *et al.*, 2007; Payungporn *et al.*, 2008). Seroprevalence of CIV was below 5% in the Unite State and 49% in multi-dog households or shelters (Chambers *et al.*, 2013; Priestnall *et al.*, 2013). Nowadays, CIV H3N8 subtype has remained enzootic in the USA (Chambers *et al.*, 2013; Priestnall *et al.*, 2013). CIV infection may result in ciliated damage in upper and lower respiratory tracts and the development of pneumonia. Clinical signs of anorexia, lethargy, respiratory discharge, coughing and fever are often noted. Besides, the environmental, host-associated factors and secondary bacteria pathogens are critical to the development of severe disease, such as fatal pneumonia (Beeler, 2009; Priestnall *et al.*, 2013). Necrotizing tracheitis/bronchitis could be observed by histopathological examination (Castleman *et al.*, 2010). So far case reports of CIV H3N8 infection have been published in both of the USA and Australia (Gibbs and Anderson, 2010; Kirkland *et al.*, 2010).

1.2.2 Avian origin canine influenza A virus (H3N2)

Canine influenza H3N2 subtype lineage was first reported in South Korea in 2007 (Song *et al.*, 2008). This subtype was isolated from dogs with severe respiratory disease. Genetic analysis showed that all eight gene segments have 95.5% to 98.9% homology to avian influenza viruses (Song *et al.*, 2008). Ingestion of poultry products or aerosol inhalation was the possible transmission route (Beeler, 2009; Gibbs and Anderson, 2010). Clinical signs and pathological examination results of the H3N2 infection were similar to those infected with H3N8 CIV (Song *et al.*, 2009). The ability of intraspecies transmission was demonstrated by experimental and natural infections (Li *et al.*, 2010; Song *et al.*, 2008; Song *et al.*, 2009; Su *et al.*, 2013a). Sustained transmission in canine populations was verified by the serological evidence and subsequent infection cases of CIV H3N2 in South Korea, China and Thailand (Bunpapong *et al.*, 2014; Lee *et al.*, 2009; Li *et al.*, 2010; Song *et al.*, 2009; Su *et al.*, 2013a; Su *et al.*, 2013b; Sun *et al.*, 2014; Sun *et al.*, 2013; Wang *et al.*, 2013).

1.2.3 Highly pathogenicity avian influenza (H5N1)

In 2004, HPAI infection in a dog after ingestion infected poultry was documented in Thailand. Severe edema or congestion in pulmonary and extrapulmonary tissue, such as liver, kidney and spleen were observed (Songserm *et al.*, 2006b). Six hundred and twenty nine village dogs in Thailand were also found to have antibodies to H5N1(Butler, 2006). Mild respiratory signs, transient elevated body temperature or subclinical infection were recorded in experimental inoculation dogs. Virus shedding from nasal cavity and seroconvertion were also detected in some inoculated dogs. Howeve, transmission between infected dogs and dogs which closely contacted with was not established (Giese *et al.*, 2008; Maas *et al.*, 2007). Dogs are demonstrated to be susceptible to H5N1 through these experiment inoculation studies, but sustained transmission among dogs has not been reported so far.

1.2.4 Influenza A(H1N1)pdm09 virus

7

In 2009, there were sporadic clinical cases of A(H1N1)pdm09 infection in dogs following close contact with humans who had recently experienced influenza-like illness (ILI) in China and the USA (Dubovi, 2010; Lin *et al.*, 2012a). The further experimental and transmission studies were performed. However, the inoculated dogs only showed mild symptoms, and the capability of intraspecies transmission was limited (Lin *et al.*, 2012a). Serological evidence of A(H1N1)pdm09 virus infection in dogs was reported in many countries. There were 0.7% and 3.8% A(H1N1)pdm09 seroprevalence in dogs in Italy and in Japan, respectively (Dundon *et al.*, 2010; Horimoto *et al.*, 2014). So far no further reports on H1N1 transmission from dogs to humans are available.

1.2.5 H3N1 and H5N2 subtypes

A novel H3N1 subtype was also isolated from one dog during the surveillance program in South Korea in 2007 to 2010 (Song *et al.*, 2012). All gene segments except HA gene of this virus had highest nucleotide sequence similarity (99.1%- 99.9%) to A(H1N1)pdm09 viruses. Dogs infected H3N1 subtype didn't exhibit notable syndrome, but virus shedding from nasal cavity was detected (Song *et al.*, 2012). Besides, H5N2 subtype which was generated by complex reassortment of viral genomes was identified from a dog with classical flu signs in China in 2009 (Zhan *et al.*, 2012). Intraspecies transmission of H5N2 was demonstrated via experiment inoculation. These data highlighted the role that dogs may play in transmission and spread of influenza (Song *et al.*, 2013).

1.3 Influenza in ferrets

Influenza induced rhinitis was reported in Ferret (Mustela putorius furo) in 1933. The high susceptibility of ferrets to influenza A virus made ferrets an attractive mammalian model for associated studies (Baker, 1998; Smith et al., 1933). There were several reasons for ferrets to be a good model for influenza studies. First, a 2, 6-gal sialic acid receptor is predominant in upper respiratory tract of humans and ferrets (Belser et al., 2011). Human and avian influenza viruses could replicate efficiently in ferrets without pre-adaptation (Belser et al., 2011). And the long trachea structure is easy to compartmentalize the upper and lower respiratory tracts. It would help to analyze the infection effect of different viruses strains on the different respiratory tract locations. (Ball, 2002; Renegar, 1992). Second, numerous clinical signs of influenza infection in ferrets are similar to humans. Elevated body temperatures, nasal discharge and sneezing are so frequently observed in infected ferrets (Belser et al., 2011). The infection severity depends on age, virus strains, immune status of host, environment and secondary pathogen infection. Sometimes clinical signs are very mild but it can also develop to pneumonia. Clinical assessment provides the information to evaluate the

status of virus replication and transmission effectiveness. Ferret have been thought as an ideal transmission model to explore the infection ability of influenza viruses (Herlocher et al., 2001; Maines et al., 2006; Yen et al., 2007). Third, ferrets are large enough to monitor clinical parameters easily, such as temperatures, heart rate, and respiratory rate (Ball, 2002; Maher and DeStefano, 2004). In previous studies, HPAI H5N1 (Zitzow et al., 2002), A(H1N1)pdm09 (Huang et al., 2012; Munster et al., 2009), seasonal H1N1 (Smith et al., 2011), human origin H3N2 (Herlocher et al., 2001) and canine H3N2 (Lee et al., 2013) had used ferrets to perform pathogenesis and transmission researches. Nowadays, ferrets have become one kinds of popular companion animals. Several cases of human origin influenza infection in ferrets have been reported. (Campagnolo et al., 2013; Patterson et al., 2009; Yoon et al., 2012). Therefore, it's essential to conduct the influenza A viruses surveillance on companion ferrets which have close contact with human begins .

1.4 Diagnosis of influenza A virus infection

RT-PCR targeting at M gene or NP gene is now the commonly used method to identify influenza A viruses infection (Dubovi, 2010). This assay had been validated to detect all HA subtypes of influenza A viruses (Fouchier *et al.*, 2000; Lee *et al.*, 2001). The influenza A virus subtype can be determined by full gene analysis using RT-PCR and sequencing (Hoffmann et al., 2001). Nasal swabs and respiratory discharge are the appropriate clinical specimens for RT-PCR (Dubovi, 2010). Virus isolation can be performed using embryonated chicken eggs, but the sensitivity is less than RT-PCR methods (Anderson et al., 2012). For CIV infection, the maximum virus shedding is in two to four days after infection, and decline by day seven. The experiment inoculation showed that viruses shedding was difficult to be detected via RT-PCR by seven days post infection (Dubovi, 2010; Dubovi and Njaa, 2008). Therefore, RT-PCR and virus isolation could be false negative if sample collection was outside the virus shedding period (Deshpande et al., 2009a). Hemagglutinin inhibition (HI) is the standard test to detect previous exposure to influenza A viruses. Antibody responses to CIV infection can be detected as early as seven days post infection (Deshpande et al., 2009a). However, using 18 different HA subtype reference viruses to screen for all influenza A viruses infection seems impossible. Nowadays, blocking ELISA test coating NP as antigen to identify all influenza A subtypes in poultry or other animal species had been developed (Brown et al., 2009). The convalescent serum specimens can be used to define influenza A virus infection (Dubovi, 2010).

1.5 Treatment and prevention of influenza A virus infection in companion animals

The treatment for influenza A virus infection in companion animals is not unusual. Supportive care such as fluid therapy, oxygen supply and bronchodilators are needed to relieve clinical signs. And broad-spectrum antibiotics are often used to control or prevent secondary bacterial infection (Dubovi, 2010). Antiviral drugs, such as adamantanes and oseltamivir are being discouraged in both human and animal medicine for several reasons (Beeler, 2009). First, there are no clinical oseltamivir evaluation studies in dogs and oseltamivir needs to be administered vey early before virus spreading over the body. Second, most of dogs can recover from adequent supportive care. Last, antiviral drugs shouldn't be overused due to the public health concern for the possibility of drug resistance (Beeler, 2009). CIV H3N8 subtype vaccine has been used in the USA (Deshpande *et al.*, 2009b). CIV H3N2 subtype vaccine is now also being developed in Korea (Lee *et al.*, 2010).

2. Identification of dog H6N1 infection through avian influenza survey in Taiwan2.1 Abstract

Canine influenza A virus (CIV) has been reported around the world, but no CIV infection information in Taiwan is available. The aim of this study was to systematically investigate the influenza A virus prevalence in dogs from 2012 through 2014 in Taiwan using serological and virologic methods. The serological survey using blocking ELISA (bELISA) revealed that the influenza A positive rate was 1.1% (3/281) and 3.1% (6/193) in household dogs and rural free-ranging dogs, respectively. Furthermore, the hemagglutination inhibition (HI) assay against avian H6 subtype also showed the presence of H6 antibody in three of nine bELISA positive serum samples. A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 (H6N1) was isolated from a dog nasal swab sample. Molecular analysis of eight gene segments of this virus revealed that it was closely related to avian influenza A viruses (H6N1) circulating in Taiwan. This virus harbored a single E627K substitution in the polymerase basic 2 protein (PB2) which might increase the replication ability in mammals. To our knowledge, this is the first report on H6N1 subtype natural infection in dog in the world. These data suggested that avian A(H6N1) infection in dogs may have existed in Taiwan. Our findings would spotlight the potential risks of avian-canine interspecies transmission of avian influenza viruses.

2.2 Introduction

Influenza A virus belongs to family Orthomyxoviridae and contains eight separate strand RNA segments with envelope. Nowadays at least 18 HA and 11 NA subtypes have been identified based on hemagglutinin (HA) and neuraminidase (NA) proteins on the surface of viruses (Tong et al., 2013). Influenza A virus has wide host range and causes varied disease symptoms. It has become an important zoonotic pathogen in the world (Lipatov et al., 2004). Influenza infection was not considered an infectious disease in dogs and cats before. However, interspecies transmission of an entire equine influenza A virus (H3N8) was first identified in an outbreak of respiratory disease occurred in greyhounds at racetrack in Florida in 2004 (Crawford et al., 2005). In 2007, avian-origin H3N2 CIV was also discovered and confirmed in South Korea (Song et al., 2008). Both H3N8 and H3N2 subtypes were able to cause sustained transmission among dogs (Payungporn et al., 2008; Song et al., 2009). Besides, sporadic influenza infection in dogs were successively reported in countries in Asia, such as H3N2, H3N1, H5N2 and H5N1 subtype in China, South Korea and Thailand (Bunpapong et al., 2014; Li et al., 2010; Lin et al., 2012b; Song et al., 2012; Song et al., 2013; Songserm et al., 2006b; Sun et al., 2013; Zhan et al., 2012). Nevertheless, no information about CIV infection in Taiwan, where is located in eastern Asia, neighboring with China, South Korea, and Thailand. Therefore, serological survey and

one-step RT-PCR screening were performed in this study to address the possibility of influenza A virus infection in dogs in Taiwan from November 2012 through February 2014. Phylogenetic analysis on the virus isolate, A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 (H6N1), was also conducted to compar its molecular characteristics with other closely related strains, especially the human-infecting H6N1 virus (A/Taiwan/2/2013). This study could provide information of influenza A virus infection in dogs in Taiwan and also aroused attention to the interspecies infection of local influenza A virus strains.

2.3 Materials methods

2.3.1 Serum specimen collection

From October 2012 through October 2013, 474 serum specimens were collected. Two dog groups were investigated in this serological survey. A total of 281 serum specimens were collected from the household dogs attending to the National Taiwan University Veterinary Hospital (NTUVH). And 193 serum specimens were obtained from rural free-ranging dogs enrolled in Rural Area Spay/Neuter Services (RASNS) program from counties of Taipei, Hsinchu, Miaoli, Yunlin, Chiayi. All the serum specimens were selected randomly from these two groups.

2.3.2 Influenza A virus antibody detection

All serum specimens were tested for antibodies against to influenza A virus

using a species-independent, blocking ELISA (bELISA) Influenza A Virus Antibody Test Kit (IDEXX, Westbrook, ME). The procedure was performed according to the manual and briefly introduced below. At first, 15 µl serum specimens was diluted in 135 µl of dilution buffer. Then 100 µl of each diluted serum sample, undiluted negative and positive control were dispensed into an antigen plate, respectively (negative and positive controls were dispensed into two wells). This plate would be incubated at 18-26 °C for 60 min, and then washed with wash solution. One hundred µl of anti-influenza A conjugate was added into each well and incubated for 30 min. The plate was washed again and dispensed with 100 µl of TMB substrate solution into each well. After 15 min, 100μ l of stop solution was added to stop all the reaction. Finally, the optical density (O.D.) of samples and controls were measured at 650 nm using an ELISA reader (TECAN, Seestrasse, Switzerland). Value of optical density of the serum sample divided by the mean O.D. of negative control was regarded as S/N ratio. If the S/N ratio is less than 0.60, the serum is interpreted influenza A antibody positive. Conversely, if S/N ratio is greater than or equal to 0.60, it is considered influenza A antibody negative.

2.3.3 Hemagglutination inhibition assay

All the serum samples with bELISA antibody positive to influenza A virus were further tested using hemaglutination inhibition (HI) assay. HI was performed using A/chicken/Taiwan/2838V/2000 (H6N1). HI assay was operated according to the procedures which recommended by the World Organization for Animal Health (OIE). Briefly, 25 μl of 2-fold serial dilutions serum specimens were mixed 4 HA units of virus in a 96 well plate and incubated at 18-26 °C for 30 min. Fifty μl of 1% chicken suspension RBC was added into each well and remained for 40 min at 18-26 °C. The reciprocal of highest serum dilution was the HI titer. HI titer of 16 or more was considered evidence of previous exposure to influenza A H6 subtype.

2.3.4 Nasal swab specimen collection

Nasal swab specimens were collected from dogs which came to National Taiwan University Veterinary Hospital showing respiratory clinical signs, such as nasal discharge, sneezing and coughing. Specimen collections were from November 2012 through February 2014. Nasal swab was resuspended in 1mL viral transported medium (Creative, Taipei, Taiwan) and stored at -80°C until processed.

2.3.5 RNA extraction

RNA was extracted with a commercial kit (Viral RNA Mini Kit, QIAGEN Inc., Hilden, Germany) according to manufacturer's instructions. Total RNA was eluted in a final volume of 50 μl.

2.3.6 Influenza A virus detection

One-step reverse transcription-PCR (RT-PCR) was performed on total RNA extraction from nasal swab specimens by using One-Step RT-PCR Kit (QIAGEN). Primer set (M52C/M253R) targeting on a highly conserved region of matrix (M) gene was used for influenza A nucleotide detection (Fouchier et al., 2000). For each one-step RT-PCR, 5 µl RNA was mixed with a reaction mixture containing 5 µl of 5×QIAGEN One-Step RT-PCR Buffer, 1.0 µl of dNTPs (10 mM), 1.5 µl of forward and reverse primers (10 µM), 1 µl of QIAGEN One-Step RT-PCR Enzyme Mix, and distilled water in a final volume of 25 µl. One-step RT-PCR was performed using a thermocycler (Biometra, Goettingen, Germany). Reaction conditions were performed by reverse transcription step at 50 °C for 30 min, initial denaturation step at 95 °C for 15 min, amplification for 40 cycles at 94 °C for 30 s, 49 °C for 30 s, 72 °C for 30s, and followed by final extension at 72 °C for 10 min. PCR product was analyzed by electrophoresis in 1.5% agarose gels (Amresco, Solon, OH) with ethidium bromide (0.2 mg/mL) staining.
The remaining nasal swab suspended solutions from RT-PCR positive cases were used for virus isolation.

2.3.7 Virus isolation

Nasal swab specimen suspended solutions were centrifuged at 1,500× g for 20 min in a refrigerated centrifuge (4 °C) to remove tissue debris. The supernatant was filtered through a sterile 0.45 μm Millex syringe-driven Filter (Millipore, Billerica, MA) filter to be the innoculum, then inoculated into the allantoic sac of 10-day-old specific-pathogen-free chicken eggs (Animal health research institute, council of agriculture, executive yuan, Taipei, Taiwan) and incubated for 48 h at 35 °C. Allantoic fluids were harvested for genetic analyses of influenza A virus. Allantoic fluids were harvested for influenza A virus genetic analysis after one to three passages.

2.3.8 Neucleotide sequencing and phylogenetic analysis

The full-length amplification of all eight gene segments was performed as described by using one-step RT-PCR with universal gene-specific primer sets (Hoffmann *et al.*, 2001). The amplified products of eight gene segments of influenza A virus were purified from agarose gels using QIAquick Gel Extraction Kits (QIAGEN), and cloned into the pGEM-T Easy vector (Promega Corp, Madison, WI), then transferred into Arrow 58sec DH5α competent cell (Arrowtec, Taipei, Taiwan). Plasmids were sent for automated sequencing (Tri-l Biotech, Inc., Taipei, Taiwan)). The sequence identity of eight segmented genes was conducted with nucleotide Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (BLAST) in Global Initiative on Sharing All Influenza Data (GISAID) and in GenBank of National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI).

The phylogenetic tree was constructed using complete sequences attained from sequence database. Multiple sequence alignments, and phylogenetic analyses were performed using Mega 6 software (Tamura *et al.*, 2013). Sequences were aligned using the ClustalW method. Phylogenic trees were built using maximum-likelihood method with1,000 replications of bootstrap analysis.

2.3.9 Statistical analysis

Fisher's exact test was used to evaluate the seroprevalence difference between household dogs and rural free-ranging dogs. Differences were considered significant at p value less than 0.05.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Serological surveillance

A total 281 and 193 serum specimens were obtained from household dogs and rural free-ranging dogs, respectively. The serological positive rate was 1.1% (3/281) and 3.1% (6/193) using bELISA in household dogs and rural free-ranging dogs, respectively. Based on the analysis of Fisher's exact test, there was no statistically significant difference (P = 0.168) in seroprevalence between these two groups. Furthermore, HI assay revealed that three of the nine bEIISA positive serum samples showed antibodies against A/chicken/Taiwan/2838V/2000 (H6N1). The HI titers of these three samples were 16, 512 and >2048. All of the HI-positive serum specimens were collected from the countryside in Yunlin, Taiwan, which is a major poultry industry location in Taiwan.

2.4.2 Virus detection and isolation

Nasal swab specimens from four dogs were M gene positive detected using one-step RT-PCR. The positive rate was 2.1% (4/185). Further sequencing and sequence comparison proved that they were all influenza A virus. The remaining nasal swab suspended solutions from these four positive dogs were used to isolate the influenza A virus (5 eggs per specimen). Influenza A virus was successfully isolated from a case co-infected with canine distemper virus (CDV). At first passage, two embryos showing hemorrhage lesions died within 48 h (2/5) in which CDV and influenza A virus were both successfully detected using RT-PCR (Figure 2-7). At the second passage all five embryos showed hemorrhage lesions and died within 48 h, in which all showed positive in influenza A virus but no CDV could be detected. At the third passage, all five embryos appeared normal and were alive over 48 h. As with the second passage, all eggs showed positive in influenza A virus but no CDV could be detected. The HA titer of allantoic fluid ranged from 256 to1024 in all of the influenza A virus positive eggs. This isolate was designated as A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 with the GenBank accession no. KM203337-KM203344.

2.4.3 Clinical findings of positive virus cases detected using RT-PCR

The most common syndrome was nasal discharge or coughing in the four one-step RT-PCR positive cases. Three of them were under six months of age, and adopted from animal shelter (n=1) or rescued from streets (n=2). Another was a 15 years old household pet. Canine herpesvirus co-infection was found in one of them, and CDV co-infection was found in another. The dog co-infected with CDV exhibited severe purulent nasal discharge, cough, and fever. PCR detection showed negative results for canine herpesvirus and canine adenovirus. Chest radiographs showed severe bilateral infiltration and air-bronchogram in lung field (Figure 2-9). The paired serum specimens (collected at day 1, 7, 14, and 19 after hospitalization) of this case were assessed with bELISA and HI assay against H6 subtype, but seroconversion was not observed. Persistent and large quantity of viral shedding from nasal discharge were detected using one-step RT-PCR every two days until the dogs died 19 days later.

2.4.4 Sequence analyses of A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014

The sequence homology of A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 (H6N1) in eight gene segments was investigated in GISAID and GenBank (Table 2-1) . The HA and NA gene of this virus had the highest nucleotide sequence similarity (99%) to A/chicken/Taiwan/1843/2012 (H6N1) and A/chicken/Taiwan/2084/2012 (H6N1), respectively. The other genes, including polymerase basic protein 2 (PB2), polymerase basic 1 (PB1), NP and nonstructural protein (NS), were closely related to H6N1 avian influenza virus isolates from chicken in Taiwan at the similarity 97% to 99%. Whereas M gene and polymerase acidic protein (PA) gene also showed the highest nucleotide sequence similarity to A/chicken/Taiwan/2593/2012 (H5N2) at 99%. Based on the HA and NA sequence analysis result, A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 was identified as H6N1 subtype.

2.4.5 Molecular characterization of A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014

Only one basic amino acid (PQIATR*G) was found at the HA cleavage site of A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014. Besides, G228S substitution (H3 numbering) on receptor binding site of HA protein was also noted in this virus. In NA proteins, a-14 amino acid deletion in the NA stalk region was observed at the amino acid position 42 to 53 and 68 to 69. The amino acid H275Y substitution in NA, the marker of oseltamivir resistance,

was not found in this virus. In the M2 protein, A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 did carry a S31N substitution. The other important signatures associating with replication ability in mammalian hosts or pathogenecity, including E627K in the PB2 protein and the PDZ ligand domain (acronym of three proteins in the first letters: post synaptic density protein, drosophila disc large tumor suppressor, and zonula occludens-1 protein) at the c-terminal region of NS1 protein of this virus were also observed (Table 2-2).

2.4.6 Phylogenetic analysis

Phylogenetic analysis of HA and NA gene segments indicated that A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 belonged to an H6N1 lineage that had been circulating in chickens in Taiwan for more than 40 years (Figures 2-1; 2-2). Although, the lineage of internal gene segments (PB2, PB1, PA, NP, M and NS) also comprised H6N1 viruses isolated in Taiwan, some H5N2 isolates fell within a lineage of H6N1 were observed (Figures 2-3 to 2-5). Moreover, most gene segments of A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 were clustered together in Taiwan lineage viruses isolated during 2012-2013. Departed from other gene segments, the phylogenetic tree of PB1 gene indicated that A/chicken/Taiwan/A2837/2013 (H6N1) was closely related to A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 and clustered in the Taiwan lineage viruses which were isolated in 2009 (Figure 2-3).

2.5 Discussion

Transmission of avian influenza viruses to dogs have been reported in various countries (Song et al., 2008; Songserm et al., 2006b). For example, a fatal H5N1 infection in a dog after ingestion of an H5N1-infected duck was reported in Thailand in 2004 (Songserm et al., 2006b). Avian-originated H3N2 CIV was identified from dogs with severe respiratory disease in 2007 in South Korea (Song et al., 2008). All eight segmented genes of these two virus isolates described above had highly homology (96-99%) with avian influenza viruses. In contrast, the information about dog influenza infection and its relevance to local avian-originated viruses in Taiwan was absent. Avian influenza H6N1 viruses have been widespread in chicken in Taiwan since 1972 (Lee et al., 2005; Lee et al., 2006; Lu et al., 1985). H6N1 viruses in Taiwan have established a unique lineage which differs from those circulating in Hong Kong and in Southeastern China. Previous study indicated that it would cause respiratory distress, decreased egg production or increased flock mortality in poultry (Lee et al., 2006). Unlike avian species, H6 subtype infection in mammals was rare.

In order to investigate the potential risk of avian H6N1 infection in dogs, the HI test against avian H6 subtypes was performed. Among nine bELISA-positive serum specimens, there were three serum specimens showed positive results with HI titers of

32, 512 and 2048, respectively. Four dogs exhibited RT-PCR positive results (2.1%) among total 185 tested dogs from swab samples. These four dogs had similar history background, including young age tendency, complicated living environment (shelter or stray dogs) or concurrent infection with other pathogens. A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 was isolated from a dog which co-infected with canine distemper virus.

Based on the A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 molecular analysis results, HA, NA, PB1, PB2, NP and NS genes showed high homology (>97% nucleotide identity) with avian H6N1 isolates which are now concurrently prevalent in Taiwan. PA and M gene of A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 showed 99% nucleotide identity with A/chicken/Taiwan/2593/2013 (H5N2).

All eight-segmented genes were highly originated from avian sources, it was speculated that the whole avian influenza genome had transmitted to this dog. According to the phylogenetic analysis, eight segmented genes comprised all avian H6N1 viruses isolated in Taiwan. However, some avian H5N2 viruses which fell within the H6N1 lineage of six internal genes were also observed. According to previous study, avian H6N1 viruses had circulated in poultry in Taiwan more than 41 years (Lee *et al.*, 2006), and were found to co-circulate with H5N2 viruses at low levels in 2012-2013 (Lee *et al.*, 2014). Further phylogenetic analysis indicated that internal genes of H5N2 viruses have undergone multiple reassortment events with contemporary enzootic H6N1 viruses for the last two decades (Lee *et al.*, 2014). Since we didn't observe independent lineage of H5N2 viruses in our phylogenetic trees. A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 was considered a H6N1 subtype virus originated from avian H6N1 and was a reassortant from different avian H6N1 viruses circulating in Taiwan. To our knowledge, it was the world's first avian H6N1 infected canine case.

Avian H6 viruses had the ability to replicate in mice without pre-adaptation based on the study of Lee et al (Lee *et al.*, 2006). Beare and Webster also reported that humans inoculated with avian-origin H6N1 virus shed virus and exhibited mild clinical symptoms but wouldn't produce a detectable antibody response (Beare and Webster, 1991). On 20 May 2013, the world's first human H6N1 bird flu infected case was demonstrated in Taiwan (Shi *et al.*, 2013; Wei *et al.*, 2013; Yuan *et al.*, 2013). We therefore compared A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 with the human-infected H6N1 virus (A/Taiwan/2/2013) to further identify the molecular traits regarding host range and virulence (Table 2-2; 2-3; 2-4). Similar to A/Taiwan/2/2013, amino-acid G228S substitution in the HA of A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 was found at the receptor-binding domain (RBD). The G228S amino-acid substitution in HA was considered acquiring higher receptor affinity for α 2-6 sialic acid receptors which exist in human (Schrauwen and Fouchier, 2014; Stevens et al., 2006). Avian H6N1 viruses which harbor G228S substitution in HA have become an predominant strains in poultry in Taiwan since 2005 (Lee et al., 2005; Wei et al., 2013). Therefore, the impacts of G228S substitution in HA of A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 need further research. Besides, a 14-aminoacid deletion in the stalk region of NA was also noted in this canine isolate. Deletions in the NA stalk region was considered to be associated with the adaptation hallmark of waterfowl viruses to terrestrial poultry (Munier et al., 2010; Schrauwen and Fouchier, 2014). Avian H6N1viruses with the 14-residue deletion in NA stalk have become the major strains in Taiwan since 2001 (Lee et al., 2006). The C-terminus of NS1 in this canine isolate also contained a PDZ ligand domain (EPEZ sequence), which was considered a potential virulent strain in a mouse model (Jackson et al., 2008; Obenauer et al., 2006). Moreover, previous studies revealed that E627K and D701N substitutions in PB2 protein were important mammalian signatures (de Wit et al., 2010; Hatta et al., 2001; Mehle and Doudna, 2009; Subbarao et al., 1993). PB2 E627K was observed to have high prevalence (70%) in the H7N9 human isolates, but not in H7N9 avian isolates. This substitution in H7N9 human isolates had been demonstrated to enhance the replication in mice. E627K was also associated with the virulence of HPAI H5N1 infection in human cases. E627K substitution was found in PB2 of

A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014, but not in that of A/Taiwan/2/2013. This suggests that

A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 might replicate more efficiently than A/Taiwan/2/2013 in mammalian host.

To address the susceptibility of dogs to avian A(H6N1)virus, the intranasal inoculation experiment in beagles with A/Mallard/San-Jiang/275/2007 (H6N1) was conducted in China in 2013. Seroconversion and virus shedding in nasal and fecal route were noted. However, there were many differences in molecular characterization between A canine/Taiwan/2014 and A/Mallard/San-Jiang/275/2007 (Table 2-2). Therefore, the experiment inoculation findings may not be able to correlate with the natural infection in dogs with contemporary avian A(H6N1) viruses in Taiwan.

The H6N1 infecting dog developed severe pneumonia and only survived for 19 days after hospitalization.. During this period, persistent and massive influenza A viral shedding from nasal discharge was detected but neither bELISA nor HI test observed detectable antibody. It was presumed that CDV co-infection may cause immunosuppression (Carvalho *et al.*, 2012) and inhibit antibodies production against influenza A viruses (Hong *et al.*, 2013). The epidemiological information about this isolate was unclear due to the lack of serological data from 11 closely contacted dogs.

Except the one which was successfully isolated, there were three partial M gene RT-PCR positive cases that were failed to isolate viruses from remaining nasal swab suspended solutions. Based on the sequence data of partial M gene segments (199bp, the 45 nucleotides at the primer M52/M253R binding site were excluded), all these cases showed five nucleotide differences compared to A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 (Figure 2-6). Although these partial M gene segments (199 bp) were too short to indicate the correct influenza A subtype, they didn't seem to have correlation with A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 (H6N1). Moreover, there were still six bELISA serum positive samples which exhibited HI test negative results against avian H6 subtypes among total nine samples. Based on the above observations, the possibility of other influenza A subtypes infection in dogs may exist in Taiwan. Further surveillance on influenza A virus infection in dogs was therefore necessary. Table 2-1 . Homology of nucleotide sequence of A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 (H6N1) isolated in Taiwan compared with related sequence in GISAID.

Gene segment	Virus with the highest identity	Source	Identity %	Accession no.
PB2	A/chicken/Taiwan/1843/2012 (H6N1)	Avian	98%	EPI510830
PB1	A/chicken/Taiwan/A2837/2013 (H6N1)	Avian	97%	EPI459872
PA	A/chicken/Taiwan/2593/2012 (H5N2)	Avian	99%	EPI510622
НА	A/chicken/Taiwan/1843/2012 (H6N1)	Avian	99%	EPI519832
NP	A/chicken/Taiwan/67/2013 (H6N1)	Avian	98%	EPI510875
NA	A/chicken/Taiwan/2084/2012 (H6N1)	Avian	99%	EPI510837
М	A/chicken/Taiwan/2593/2012 (H5N2)	Avian	99%	EPI510660
NS	A/chicken/Taiwan/67/2013 (H6N1)	Avian	97%	EPI510878

Amino acid	A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014	A/Taiwan/2/2013	A/Mallard/San-Jiang/275/2007	Function (26, 29)
substitution			the second se	14
PB2				業。學:00
E627K	К	Е	Е	Replication ability in
				mammalian host
D701Q	D	D	D	Nuclear import
PB1-F2				
N66S	Ν	Truncated form	S	Induction of
				apoptosis
HA				
Cleavage site	Single	Single	Single	HA cleavage
	(PQIATR*G)	(PQIATR*G)	(PQIETR*G)	
Q226L	Q	Q	Q	Increased virus
G2288	S	S	G	binding
				ability of $\alpha 2$ -6 sialic
				acid receptor.
NA				
H275Y	Н	Н	Н	Oseltamivir
				resistance
41-52 and 68-69	Deleted	Deleted	Complete	Unknown
M2				
\$31N	Ν	Ν	S	Adamantane
				resistance
NS1				
D92E	D	D	D	Unknown
EPEV sequence	EPEV	EPEV	ESEV	PDZ ligand domain
(C-terminus)				

Table 2-2. Molecular characterization comparison between A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014, A/Taiwan/2/2013 and A/Mallard/San-Jiang/275/2007

* HA cleavage site



	117	184	318	355	434	575	627	640	659	671	679	683	709
A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 (H6N1)	Т	Т	G	R	L	М	K	Ι	S	Ν	Р	А	G
A/Taiwan/2/2013 (H6N1)			R				Е	V		D		Т	S
A/chicken/Taiwan/692/2012 (H5N2)			R				Е	V		D		Т	S
A/chicken/Taiwan/689/2012 (H5N2)			R				Е	v		D		Т	S
A/chicken/Taiwan/2267/2012 (H6N1)			R				Е	V		D		Т	S
A/chicken/Taiwan/2331/2012 (H6N1)		•	R	•	•	•	Е	V		D		Т	S
A/chicken/Taiwan/1843/2012 (H6N1)		·	R				Е	V		D	Q	Т	S
A/chicken/Taiwan/2084/2012 (H6N1)		А	R	•	J	Ι	Е	V	Ν	D	•	Т	S
A/chicken/Taiwan/A2837/2013(H6N1)	А		R	Q			Е	V		D		Т	S
A/chicken/Taiwan/67/2013(H6N1)			R	Q		Ι	Е	V		D		Т	S

Table 2-3. Sequence alignment of the different sites of the PB2 gene. Amino acid sites differ from the 2012/2013 H6N1 viruses.

Table 2-4. Amino acid	seque	ence	align	men	t of tl	ne dif	ferer	nt site	s of th	ne HA	gene.									T.	
	32	37	41	45	48	86	96	98	100	106	108	130	135	142	143	157	160	186	192	199	200
A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014	V	N	K	K	N	N	V	K	V	F	G	N	N	Т	D	D	Т	Р	D	G	K 78
A/Taiwan/2/2013			•				A	N	L			S		Ι	•		•	L		D	要. 舉 刷
A/chicken/Taiwan/2437/2012								Ν	L			S		Ι						D	•
A/chicken/Taiwan/A2837/2013								Ν	L			S		Ι						D	•
A/chicken/Taiwan/67/2013							А	Ν	L			S		Ι						D	•
A/chicken/Taiwan/1843/2012		•	•			•	•	•			Е			Ι	•		•	•		D	
A/chicken/Taiwan/2084/2012				Ν	Κ									Ι					Ν	D	
A/chicken/Taiwan/0706/2003	Ι	•	•		•	Т	•	N				S	K	Ι	•	Е	А	•		D	R
A/chicken/Taiwan/0204/2005	Ι							N		L		S		Ι		Е	А			D	R
A/chicken/Taiwan/TC147/2010	Ι	S	N	N		Т		N		L		S		I		Е	А			D	R
A/chicken/Taiwan/A342/2005	Ι	S				Т		Ν		L		S		Ι	Ν	Е	А			D	R

Table 2-4. Amino acid sequence alignment of the different sites of the HA gene.

	226	228	238	244	263	273	280	287	289	302	306	314	324	328	329	377	388	480	481	495	503
A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014	Q	S	K	Н	Т	D	D	А	А	L	K	Е	N	Ι	А	D	S	М	Е	K	G
A/Taiwan/2/2013			R	N				Т	V		Е						Ν				
A/chicken/Taiwan/2437/2012			R	Ν					V		Е						Ν				
A/chicken/Taiwan/A2837/2013			R	Ν					V		Е						Ν				
A/chicken/Taiwan/67/2013			R	Ν	K				V		Е						Ν				
A/chicken/Taiwan/1843/2012											Е						S			Е	
A/chicken/Taiwan/2084/2012				Ν					V	Q	Е						Ν		М		
A/chicken/Taiwan/0706/03				Ν		N	Y		V		Е		D		Е		Ν	Ι		D	
A/chicken/Taiwan/0204/05				N					V		Е						Ν	Ι		Е	
A/chicken/Taiwan/TC147/2010				Ν		N			V		Е	K		V	Е	Ν	Т	Ι		D	R
A/chicken/Taiwan/A342/2005				N		Ν			V	•	Е				Е		N	Ι		D	



Figure 2-1. Phylogenetic relationship between the complete HA genes of A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 and other avian influenza virus lineages. HA gene of A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 was clustered with H6N1 strains isolated from 2012 to 2013 in Taiwan. It was conducted using maximum likelihood with bootstrap analysis with 1,000 replications. Only branches with bootstrap values of more than 75% are denoted on the phylogenetic tree. Scale bar indicates nucleotide substitutions per site.



Figure 2-2. Phylogenetic relationship between the complete NA genes of A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 and other avian influenza virus lineages. NA gene of A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 was clustered with H6N1 strains isolated from 2012 to 2013 in Taiwan. It was conducted using maximum likelihood with bootstrap analysis with 1,000 replications. Only branches with bootstrap values of more than 75% are denoted on the phylogenetic tree. Scale bar indicates nucleotide substitutions per site.



Figure 2-3. (A) Phylogenetic relationship between the complete PB2 genes of A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 and other avian influenza virus lineages. (B) Phylogenetic relationship between the complete PB1 genes of A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 and other avian influenza A virus lineages. PB2 and PB1 gene of A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 are clustered with H6N1 strains isolated from 2012 to 2013 in Taiwan. Some avian H5N2 viruses fall within the H6N1 lineage. It was conducted using maximum likelihood with bootstrap analysis with 1,000 replications. Only branches with bootstrap values of more than 75% are denoted on the phylogenetic tree. Scale bar indicates nucleotide substitutions per site.



Figure 2-4. (C) Phylogenetic relationship between the complete PA genes of A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 and other avian influenza A virus lineages. (D) Phylogenetic relationship between the complete NP genes of A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 and other avian influenza A virus lineages. PA and NP gene of A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 are clustered with H6N1 strains isolated from 2012 to 2013 in Taiwan. Some avian H5N2 viruses fall within the H6N1 lineage. It was conducted using maximum likelihood with bootstrap analysis with 1,000 replications. Only branches with bootstrap values of more than 75% are denoted on the phylogenetic tree. Scale bar indicates nucleotide substitutions per site.



Figure 2-5. (E) Phylogenetic relationship between the complete M genes of A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 and other avian influenza A virus lineages. (F) Phylogenetic relationship between the complete NS genes of A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 and other avian influenza A virus lineages. M and NS gene of A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 are clustered with H6N1 strains isolated from 2012 to 2013 in Taiwan. Some avian H5N2 viruses fall within the H6N1 lineage. It was conducted using maximum likelihood with bootstrap analysis with 1,000 replications. Only branches with bootstrap values of more than 75% are denoted on the phylogenetic tree. Scale bar indicates nucleotide substitutions per site.



Figure 2-6. Sequence alignment of amplified DNA using primers M52C/M253R. Sample number 140 and 175 were two of three partial M gene sequences (199bp, the 45 nucleotides at the primer M52/M253R binding sites were excluded) that were failed to isolate viruses from remaining nasal swab suspended solutions. Alignment results showed five nucleotides differences, compared to A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014.



Figure 2-7. (A) One of the A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 infected embryos in the first passage died with hemorrhage lesion in 48h. (B)-(F) Hemorrhage lesions were noted at five A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 infected embryos which died within 48h at the second passage.





Figure 2-8. The appearances of five embryos infected with A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 were normal and all alive after 48h at the third passage. The right last embryo with congestion appearance was resulted in artificial mechanical damage to this embryo.





(A)



(B)

Figure 2-9. Chest radiographs of the dog with confirmed A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014 infection. (A) Right lateral view. (B) Dorsal ventral view. Chest radiographs showed severe bilateral infiltration and air-bronchogram in lung field. 3. Natural infection case of influenza A(H1N1)pdm09 virus in a pet ferret in Taiwan

3.1 Abstract

Ferrets have been demonstrated to have high susceptibility to influenza virus infection and possess the ability to transmit virus among individuals. In this study, a natural influenza A(H1N1)pdm09 virus (A(H1N1)pdm09) infection in a pet ferret (*Mustela putorius furo*) in Taiwan in 2013 was identified. The ferret was closely contacted with family members who had recently experienced influenza-like illness. Nasal swab was submitted to the laboratory for influenza A viruses molecular screening and virus isolation. Both of the nasal swab and virus isolation showed positive results using one-step RT-PCR targeting at matrix gene (M). Phylogenetic analysis indicated that all of the eight segmented genes were closely related to the lineage of A(H1N1)pdm09 viruses isolated in Taiwan. This study may provided a perspective view on the relationship of natural influenza A virus transmission between pet ferrets and the local human population.

3.2 Case introduction

Influenza-induced rhinitis in ferret was first reported in 1933. They were demonstrated to have high susceptibility to type A and B of human influenza viruses,

and obtain the ability to transmit virus mutually (Baker, 1998; Smith et al., 1933). Nowadays, ferrets have been considered an ideal mammalian model for influenza A virus studies (Maher and DeStefano, 2004). According to the previous inoculation experiments, moderate focal bronchopneumonia in a ferret inoculated with 10² TCID₅₀ dose of A/California/4/2009 was observed at 7 days post inoculation (Smith et al., 2011). Necrotizing rhinitis, trachetitis, bronchitis and bronchiolitis were also revealed in ferrets in inoculated with 10⁶ TCID₅₀ dose of A/Netherlands/602/2009. A(H1N1)pdm09 virus-inoculated animals exhibited clinical symptoms of lethargy, sneezing, nasal discharge, anorexia and weight loss (Munster at al., 2009). In this article, we identified a natural influenza A virus infection case in a pet ferret that had been in close contact with persons who had recently experienced influenza-like illness (ILI). It was an eight-year-old neutered female ferret attended to National Taiwan University Veterinary Hospital (NTUVH) in July 2013 showing panting, coughing, open-mouth breathing, inappetence, poor activity and low body temperature (36.6 °C). Past history showed there was adenocarcinoma in left adrenal gland and unilateral adrenalectomy was performed at four years old. Multiple lymph nodes swellings have been noted since November 2012. Lymphoma was suspected due to the monoclonal gammopathy of serum protein electrophoresis (SPEP) test. However, further biopsy checking was declined by the owner.

Two family members of the household who had close contact with this ferret appeared ILI symptoms within one week before the ferret's visit at NYUVH. The ILI signs of the owners included fever, coughing and nasal discharge. The ferret became sick three days later after the onset of owner's clinical sings. Chest radiographs showed a moderate to severe diffusive increase in bronchial markings, and mesenchymal tissue opacity in both left and right lungs (Figure 3-1). Bacterial culture of pleural effusion was negative. The ferret was treated with subcutaneous fluid, antibiotics, and airway nebulization. After two days of therapy, nasal discharge was eliminated, but the ferret still exhibited lethargy and dyspnea (oxygen saturation < 80%). Euthanasia was executed on the third day of hospitalization. Necropsy was not performed because of owner's disagreement. PCR detection of the ferret nasal swab sample showed negative results for canine distemper virus and feline coronavirus but positive result for influenza A virus. The nasal swab sample was then submitted to virus isolation.

Complete molecular analysis for this ferret isolate was performed. Phylogenetic tree construction and comparison with other viruses, including A(H1N1)pdm09 viruses which were isolated in Taiwan, were made. This study results would highlight the zoonotic role of influenza A virus played in both pet ferrets and human living in the same household.

3.3 Materials and methods

The ferret's nasal swab sample was dissolved in 1mL of viral transported medium (Creative, Taipei, Taiwan). Influenza A virus M gene was detected using primer set M52C/M253R (Fouchier et al., 2000) with one step RT-PCR kit (QIAGEN, Hiloden, Germany). One aliquot of nasal swab sample solution was inoculated into the allantoic sac of 10-day-old specific-pathogen-free chicken eggs (Animal health research institute, council of agriculture, executive yuan, Taipei, Taiwan) which were incubated for 48 hours at 35 °C. Allantoic fluid was harvested to conduct influenza A virus genotyping. The entire eight segmented genes of influenza A virus were amplified using the universal primer set described by Hoffmann et al (Hoffmann et al., 2001). The amplified products were purified from agarose gels (Amresco, solon, OH) using QIAquick® Gel Extraction Kits (QIAGEN), cloned into the pGEM-T Easy vector (Promega Corp, Madison, WI), and then transferred into Arrow 58sec DH5αcompetent ell (Arrowtec, Taipei, Taiwan). Plasmids were sent for automated sequencing (Tri-l Biotech, Inc., Taipei, Taiwan).

The sequence identity of eight segmented genes was conducted with nucleotide Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (BLAST) in GenBank of National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI). Phylogenetic analysis was conducted using virus genes which were representative of relevant major gene lineages from different hosts. Complete reference virus sequences were downloaded from GenBank. Multiple sequence alignments, and phylogenetic analyses were performed using Mega 6 (Tamura et al., 2031) soft ware. Sequences were aligned with the Clustal W method. Phylogenic trees were conducted using maximum likelihood with bootstrap analysis with 1,000 replications.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Phylogenetic analysis

Both of the original nasal swab sample and virus isolate were positive in M gene detection using one-step RT-PCR. This virus was designated as A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013. The eight segmented gene sequences of A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013 were submitted to GenBank under the accession numbers of KJ702009-KJ702016. All gene segments of A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013 had the highest nucleotide sequence similarity to H1N1 viruses. Eight segmented genes fell into the same cluster as A(H1N1)pdm09 viruses which were initially identified in April 2009 in the United States. A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013 was most closely related to the lineage of A(H1N1)pdm09 viruses which were isolated in Taiwan (Figures 3-2 to 3-9). Its hemagglutinin (HA) and M genes were most closely to the A/Taiwan/80205/2013 strain.

3.4.2 Molecular characterizations of A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013

Moreover, a unique mutation of HA2 (E374K) was found in

A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013. The amino acid H275Y substitution in neuraminidase (NA), the marker of oseltamivir resistant, was not found in A/ferret/Taiwan/2013. Two other mutations (C154T and G238A) of M gene in A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/201were also observed.

3.5 Discussion

In the previous studies, ferrets were demonstrated to have high susceptibility to influenza virus infection and have the ability to transmit mutually (Baker, 1998; Smith *et al.*, 1933). The animal has become a suitable model for human influenza virus studies nowadays (Belser *et al.*, 2011). Ferrets infected with A(H1N1)pdm09 virus were also reported in other countries (Patterson *et al.*, 2009; Swenson *et al.*, 2010). As regards the epidemic situation of A(H1N1)pdm09 viruses in Taiwan, there was a prevalence peak in November 2009 but intensively declined in January 2010 after a mass vaccination program. During the 2009-2010 influenza season, the mortality was 1.9 deaths per million in Taiwan. However, A(H1N1)pdm09 still recurred during Taiwan's 2010-11 influenza season after WHO announced that the world shifted into the post-pandemic period on August 10, 2010. The mortality rate in 2010-2011 influenza season was 5.5

deaths per million population (Chuang et al., 2012; Ho et al., 2010; Lan et al., 2013). Based on the previous studies, A(H1N1)pdm09 viruses have begun to evolve and diversify into at least 7 clades (clade 1 to 7) with various spatial and geographic patterns (Nelson et al., 2009). Clade 7 virus strain was the predominantly imported strain in August 2009 in Taiwan. The viruses which reemerged in 2012-2013 were classified into three novel clades 11.2, 12.1 and 12.2 according to HA phylogenetic investigations (Nelson et al., 2009; Yang et al., 2011; Yang et al., 2014). In this study, the phylogenetic analysis of HA gene of A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013 revealed that it belonged to clade 11.1, which was branched from the previous predominant clade 11 that circulated in 2010 to 2011 in Taiwan. A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013 held the HA amino acid characteristics of clade 11 (D114N, S202T, S468N) and the additional substitutions features of clade 11.1(V251I, K300E) (Yang et al., 2014). It indicated that A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2014 possessed the features specific to A(H1N1)pdm09 viruses circulated in Taiwan.

The major human influenza virus strains circulating in Taiwan from 2009 to 2010 were found to have a unique mutation in HA2, E374K, numbering without signal peptide (17 amino acids) (Kao *et al.*, 2012). The same feature was also noted in A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2014. However, E374K mutation had no significant differences in cross-microneutralization test and hemagglutination inhibition serologic reaction (Kao et al., 2012).

Mutation (H275Y N1 numbering) in A(H1N1)pdm09 was discovered in June 2009 and found to become oseltamivir-resistant (Baz *et al.*, 2009; WHO, 2010). In Taiwan, the first oseltamivir-resistant A(H1N1)pdm09 virus strain was isolated from a 20-year-old man in October 2009 after four-days of treatment with standard dose of oseltamivir (Sy *et al.*, 2010). The oseltamivir-resistant viruses were detected during May 2009 to April 2011 and the results showed 1.1 % (15/1335) patients of A(H1N1)pdm09-positive cases had H275Y-mutation in Taiwan (Yang et al., 2013). A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013 was not found to have histidine to tyrosine substitution at amino acid 275, indicating that it was still sensitive to oseltamivir.

A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013 was also found to have C154T and G238A mutations on M gene which would result in mismatches at primer binding sites for real-time RT-PCR assay developed by Ward et al (Ward *et al.*, 2004). These two mutations were also noted in other A(H1N1)pdm09 viruses isolated in 2012-2013 in Taiwan (Yang *et al.*, 2014). These two novel mutations were found to decrease the sensitivity of commonly employed real-time RT-PCR assays since the mismatches located at primer binding sites. Therefore, it was recommended that simultaneous use of real-time RT-PCR assay targeting different genes will improve the accuracy of virus identification (Ward *et al.*, 2004; Yang et al., 2014).

Because of severe lethargy and dyspnea, euthanasia was finally executed on the third day of hospitalization. Due to lack of necropsy, it was impossible to confirm the neoplasia diagnosis and explore the relationship between A(H1N1)pdm09 infection and neoplasia. According to the previous studies, most cases of A(H1N1)pdm09 infection were mild, but patients with underlying disease, immunosuppression, pregnancy, cancer or chronic diseases may have greater incidence to acquire influenza infections or aggravate the severity of infection due to the disruption of immune system. Serious clinical presentations, such as acute respiratory distress syndrome and death may develop (Gill *et al.*, 2010; Hajjar *et al.*, 2010; Thirumala *et al.*, 2010). The suspected neoplasia and old age could be negative impacts on immunity of this ferret, and aggravated the disease severity.

It could not be directly proven that the family members were the influenza A virus sources for the ferret. However, based on the RT-PCR, virus isolation and phylogenetic analysis results, this ferret did have A(H1N1)pdm09 virus infection. Moreover, the molecular analysis results revealed that A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013 possessed a number of unique features of localized A(H1N1)pdm09 viruses in Taiwan.

Transmission of 2009 pandemic H1N1 virus from human to ferret had been

reported before (Patterson *et al.*, 2009; Swenson *et al.*, 2010). However, A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2014 (H1N1) was the first isolate identified from a pet ferret bearing the specific characteristics of human influenza viruses circulated in Taiwan. It indicated that this isolate may co-circulate with other human influenza viruses in Taiwan and increased the zoonotic risk. Nevertheless, influenza A virus infection in pet ferrets was not routinely diagnosed by veterinary practitioners in Taiwan. Therefore, further surveillance on influenza A virus infection in pet ferrets is necessary.




(B)

(A)



Figure 3-1. Chest radiographs of the ferret with confirmed A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013 infection. (A) Right lateral view. (B) Dorsal ventral view. The radiographs show visible alveolar pattern with a moderate to severe diffusive increase in bronchial markings. Increased mesenchymal tissue opacity is observed in both left and right lung lobes at dorsal ventral view.



Figure 3-2. Phylogenetic tree of complete HA gene of A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013 with other influenza A virus lineages. A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013 is grouped with A(H1N1)pdm09 viruses. It was conducted using maximum likelihood with bootstrap analysis with 1,000 replications. Only branches with bootstrap values of more than 75% are denoted on the phylogenetic tree.



Figure 3-3. Phylogenetic tree of complete NA gene of A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013 with other influenza A virus lineages. A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013 is grouped with A(H1N1)pdm09 viruses. It was conducted using maximum likelihood with bootstrap analysis with 1,000 replications. Only branches with bootstrap values of more than 75% are denoted on the phylogenetic tree.



Figure 3-4. (A) Phylogenetic tree of complete M gene of A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013 with other influenza A virus lineages. (B) Phylogenetic tree of complete PB2 gene of A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013 with other influenza A virus lineages. A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013 is grouped with A(H1N1)pdm09 viruses. It was conducted using maximum likelihood with bootstrap analysis with 1,000 replications. Only branches with bootstrap values of more than 75% are denoted on the phylogenetic tree.



Figure 3-5. (C) Phylogenetic tree of complete PB1 gene of A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013 with other influenza A virus lineages. (D) Phylogenetic tree of complete PA gene of A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013 with other influenza A virus lineages. A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013 is grouped with A(H1N1)pdm09 viruses. It was conducted using maximum likelihood with bootstrap analysis with 1,000 replications. Only branches with bootstrap values of more than 75% are denoted on the phylogenetic tree.



Figure 3-6. (E) Phylogenetic tree of complete NP gene of A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013 with other influenza A virus lineages. (F) Phylogenetic tree of complete NS gene of A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013 (H1N1) with other influenza A virus lineages. A/ferret/Taiwan/E01/2013 is grouped with A(H1N1)pdm09 viruses. It was conducted using maximum likelihood with bootstrap analysis with 1,000 replications. Only branches with bootstrap values of more than 75% are denoted on the phylogenetic tree.

4. Conclusion



In this study, the positive rate of serum influenza A antibody was 1.1% (3/281) in household dogs and 3.1 % (6/193) in rural free-ranging dogs using blocking ELISA assay. HI assay against avian H6 subtype also showed H6 antibody presence in three of nine bELISA positive serum specimens. The serological survey indicated that influenza A virus infection indeed existed in dogs in Taiwan, especially the H6 subtype. Phylogenetic analysis for the canine isolate demonstrated that the pathogen was avian influenza H6N1 virus. Besides, a unique E627K substitution of PB2 protein was found in A/canine/Taiwan/E01/2014, indicating an increase in potential risk of dog to dog transmission. This is the first report on dog natural infection with avian influenza H6N1 virus in the world. Additionally, a natural infection case of influenza A(H1N1)pdm09 with the unique features of localized influenza virus in Taiwan was also demonstrated in a pet ferret. The study results could provide the preliminary information on influenza prevalence in companion animals in Taiwan.

5. References

- Anderson TC, Crawford PC, Katz JM, Dubovi EJ, Landolt G, Gibbs EPJ, 2012. Diagnostic performance of the canine influenza A virus subtype H3N8 hemagglutination inhibition assay. *J Vet Diagn Invest.* 24, 499-508.
- 2. Baker DG, 1998. Natural pathogens of laboratory mice, rats, and rabbits and their effects on research. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 11, 231-266.
- 3. Ball RS, 2002. Husbandry and management of the domestic ferret. Lab Anim. 31, 37-42.
- Baz M, Abed Y, Papenburg J, Bouhy X, Hamelin M-È, Boivin G, 2009. Emergence of oseltamivir-resistant pandemic H1N1 virus during prophylaxis. N Engl J Med. 361, 2296-2297.
- Beare A, Webster R, 1991. Replication of avian influenza viruses in humans. Arch. Virol. 119, 37-42.
- 6. Beeler E, 2009. Influenza in dogs and cats. Vet Clin North Am Small Anim Pract. 39, 251-264.
- Belser JA, Katz JM, Tumpey TM, 2011. The ferret as a model organism to study influenza A virus infection. *Dis Model Mech.* 4, 575-579.
- Brankston G, Gitterman L, Hirji Z, Lemieux C, Gardam M, 2007. Transmission of influenza A in human beings. *Lancet Infect Dis.* 7, 257-265.
- Brown JD, Stallknecht DE, Berghaus RD, Luttrell MP, Velek K, Kistler W, Costa T, Yabsley MJ, Swayne D, 2009. Evaluation of a commercial blocking enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay to detect avian influenza virus antibodies in multiple experimentally infected avian species. *Clin Vaccine Immunol.* 16, 824-829.
- Bunpapong N, Nonthabenjawan N, Chaiwong S, Tangwangvivat R, Boonyapisitsopa S, Jairak W, Tuanudom R, Prakairungnamthip D, Suradhat S, Thanawongnuwech R, 2014. Genetic characterization of canine influenza A virus (H3N2) in thailand. *Virus Genes.* 48, 56-63.
- 11. Butler D, 2006. Thai dogs carry bird-flu virus, but will they spread it? *Nature* 439, 773-773.
- Carvalho OV, Botelho CV, Ferreira CGT, Scherer PO, Soares-Martins JAP, Almeida MR, Silva Júnior A, 2012. Immunopathogenic and neurological mechanisms of canine distemper virus. *Adv Virol* 2012.
- Campagnolo ER, Moll ME, Tuhacek K, Simeone AJ, Miller WS, Waller KO, Simwale O, Rankin JT, Ostroff SM, 2013. Concurrent 2009 pandemic influenza A (H1N1) virus infection in ferrets and in a community in pennsylvania. *Zoonoses Public Health*. 60, 117-124.

- Castleman WL, Powe JR, Crawford PC, Gibbs EPJ, Dubovi EJ, Donis RO, Hanshaw D, 2010.
 Canine H3N8 influenza virus infection in dogs and mice. *Vet Pathol.* 47, 507-517.
- Chambers TM, Dubovi EJ, Donis RO, 2013. Equine/canine/feline/seal influenza. In: Webster RG, Monto AS, Braciale TJ, Lamb RA (Eds). Textbook of Influenza, 2nd Edition. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd., Hoboken, USA. pp. 203-217.
- Chuang JH, Huang AS, Huang WT, Liu MT, Chou JH, Chang FY, Chiu WT, 2012. Nationwide surveillance of influenza during the pandemic (2009–10) and post-pandemic (2010–11) periods in Taiwan. *PLoS One.* 7 (4), e36120.
- Claas EC, Osterhaus AD, van Beek R, De Jong JC, Rimmelzwaan GF, Senne DA, Krauss S, Shortridge KF, Webster RG, 1998. Human influenza A H5N1 virus related to a highly pathogenic avian influenza virus. *Lancet.* 351, 472-477.
- Cox NJ, Subbarao K, 2000. Global epidemiology of influenza: Past and present. Annu Rev Med. 51, 407-421.
- Crawford PC, Dubovi EJ, Castleman WL, Stephenson I, Gibbs EPJ, Chen L, Smith C, Hill RC, Ferro P, Pompey J, *et al.*, 2005. Transmission of equine influenza virus to dogs. *Science* 310, 482-485.
- 20. de Wit E, Munster VJ, van Riel D, Beyer WE, Rimmelzwaan GF, Kuiken T, Osterhaus AD,
 Fouchier RA, 2010. Molecular determinants of adaptation of highly pathogenic avian
 influenza H7N7 viruses to efficient replication in the human host. J Virol. 84, 1597-1606.
- 21. Deshpande MS, Abdelmagid O, Tubbs A, Jayappa H, Wasmoen T, 2009a. Experimental reproduction of canine influenza virus H3N8 infection in young puppies. *Vet Ther.* 10, 29.
- Dawood FS, Jain S, Finelli L, Shaw MW, Lindstrom S, Garten RJ, Gubareva LV, Xu X, Bridges CB, TM. U, 2009. Emergence of a novel swine-origin influenza A (H1N1) virus in humans. N Engl J Med. 360, 2605-2615.
- Deshpande MS, Jirjis FF, Tubbs A, Jayappa H, Sweeney D, Spencer S, Lakshmanan N, Wasmoen T, 2009b. Evaluation of the efficacy of a canine influenza virus (H3N8) vaccine in dogs following experimental challenge. *Vet Ther.* 10, 103.
- 24. dos Reis M, Hay AJ, Goldstein RA, 2009. Using non-homogeneous models of nucleotide substitution to identify host shift events: Application to the origin of the 1918 'spanish' influenza pandemic virus. J Mol Evol. 69, 333-345.
- 25. Dubovi EJ, 2010. Canine influenza. Vet Clin North Am Small Anim Pract. 40, 1063-1071.

- 26. Dubovi EJ, Njaa BL, 2008. Canine influenza. Vet Clin North Am Small Anim Pract. 38, 827-835.
- 27. Dundon WG, De Benedictis P, Viale E, Capua I, 2010. Serologic evidence of pandemic (H1N1)
 2009 infection in dogs, Italy. *Emerg Infect Dis.* 16, 2019-2021.
- Fouchier RAM, Bestebroer TM, Herfst S, Van Der Kemp L, Rimmelzwaan GF, Osterhaus ADME,
 2000. Detection of influenza A viruses from different species by PCR amplification of
 conserved sequences in the matrix gene. J Clin Microbiol. 38, 4096-4101.
- Gao R, Cao B, Hu Y, Feng Z, Wang D, Hu W, Chen J, Jie Z, Qiu H, Xu K, 2013. Human infection with a novel avian-origin influenza A (H7N9) virus. N Engl J Med. 368, 1888-1897.
- 30. Gibbs EPJ, Anderson TC, 2010. Equine and canine influenza: A review of current events. *Anim Health Res Rev.* 11, 43-51.
- Giese M, Harder TC, Teifke JP, Klopfleisch R, Breithaupt A, Mettenleiter TC, Vahlenkamp TW,
 2008. Experimental infection and natural contact exposure of dogs with avian influenza virus (H5N1). *Emerg Infect Dis.* 14, 308.
- 32. Gill JR, Sheng ZM, Ely SF, Guinee Jr DG, Beasley MB, Suh J, Deshpande C, Mollura DJ, Morens DM, Bray M, 2010. Pulmonary pathologic findings of fatal 2009 pandemic influenza A/H1N1 viral infections. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 134, 235-243.
- Hajjar L, Mauad T, Galas F, Kumar A, da Silva L, Dolhnikoff M, Trielli T, Almeida J, Borsato M,
 Abdalla E, 2010. Severe novel influenza A (H1N1) infection in cancer patients. *Ann Oncol.* 21, 2333-2341.
- Hatta M, Gao P, Halfmann P, Kawaoka Y, 2001. Molecular basis for high virulence of Hong Kong H5N1 influenza A viruses. *Science* 293, 1840-1842.
- 35. Herlocher ML, Elias S, Truscon R, Harrison S, Mindell D, Simon C, Monto AS, 2001. Ferrets as a transmission model for influenza: Sequence changes in HA1 of type A (H3N2) virus. J Infect Dis. 184, 542-546.
- Ho TS, Wang SM, Liu CC, 2010. Historical review of pandemic influenza A inTaiwan, 2009. Pediatr Neonatol. 51, 83-88.
- Hoffmann E, Stech J, Guan Y, Webster RG, Perez DR, 2001. Universal primer set for the full-length amplification of all influenza A viruses. *Arch Virol.* 146, 2275-2289.
- Holsinger LJ, Nichani D, Pinto LH, Lamb RA, 1994. Influenza A virus M2 ion channel protein: A structure-function analysis. J Virol. 68, 1551-1563.
- 39. Hong M, Kang B, Na W, An D, Moon H, Kim DJ, Oh J, Park SJ, Poo H, Kim JK, 2013. Prolonged

shedding of the canine influenza H3N2 virus in nasal swabs of experimentally immunocompromised dogs. *Clin Exp Vaccine Res.* 2, 66-68.

- Horimoto T, Gen F, Murakami S, Iwatsuki-Horimoto K, Kato K, Akashi H, Hisasue M, Sakaguchi M, Kawaoka Y, Maeda K, 2014. Serological evidence of infection of dogs with human influenza viruses in Japan. *Vet Rec.* 174, 96-96.
- Huang SSH, Banner D, Degousee N, Leon AJ, Xu L, Paquette SG, Kanagasabai T, Fang Y, Rubino S, Rubin B, *et al.*, 2012. Differential pathological and immune responses in newly weaned ferrets are associated with a mild clinical outcome of pandemic 2009 H1N1 infection. *J Virol.* 86, 13187-13201.
- Jackson D, Hossain MJ, Hickman D, Perez DR, Lamb RA, 2008. A new influenza virus virulence determinant: The NS1 protein four c-terminal residues modulate pathogenicity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 105, 4381-4386.
- Kao CL, Chan TC, Tsai CH, Chu KY, Chuang SF, Lee CC, Li ZR, Wu KW, Chang LY, Shen YH, et al., 2012. Emerged HA and NA mutants of the pandemic influenza H1N1 viruses with increasing epidemiological significance in Taipei and Kaohsiung, Taiwan, 2009-10. PLoS One. 7, e31162.
- Keawcharoen J, Oraveerakul K, Kuiken T, Fouchier RA, Amonsin A, Payungporn S, Noppornpanth S, Wattanodorn S, Theambooniers A, Tantilertcharoen R, *et al.*, 2004. Avian influenza H5N1 in tigers and leopards. *Emerg Infect Dis.* 10, 2189-2191.
- 45. Kirkland PD, Finlaison DS, Crispe E, Hurt AC, 2010. Influenza virus transmission from horses to dogs, Australia. *Emerg Infect Dis.* 16, 699-702.
- Kruth SA, Carman S, Weese JS, 2008. Seroprevalence of antibodies to canine influenza virus in dogs in Ontario. *Can Vet J.* 49, 800-802.
- 47. Kuiken T, Rimmelzwaan G, van Riel D, van Amerongen G, Baars M, Fouchier R, Osterhaus A,
 2004. Avian H5N1 influenza in cats. *Science* 306, 241-241.
- Lagace-Wiens PR, Rubinstein E, Gumel A, 2010. Influenza epidemiology-past, present, and future. Crit Care Med. 38, e1-e9.
- Lamb R, Krug R, 2001. Orthomyxoviridae: The viruses and their replication. In: Knipe DM, Howley PM, Griffin DE, Lamb RA, Martin MA, Roizman B, Straus SE (Eds). Fields virology: Fields virology, 4th ed. *Lippincott Williams & Wilkins*, Philadelphia, USA. pp. 1487–1531.
- Lan YC, Su MC, Chen CH, Huang SH, Chen WL, Tien N, Lin CW, 2013. Epidemiology of pandemic influenza A/H1N1 virus during 2009–2010 in Taiwan. Virus Res. 177, 46-54.

- Lee CCD, Zhu H, Huang PY, Peng L, Chang YC, Yip CH, Li YT, Cheung CL, Compans R, Yang C, 2014. The emergence and evolution of avian H5N2 influenza viruses in chickens in Taiwan. *J Virol.* 88(10), 5677-5686.
- 52. Lee C, Jung K, Oh J, Oh T, Han S, Hwang J, Yeom M, Son D, Kim J, Park B, 2010. Protective efficacy and immunogenicity of an inactivated avian-origin H3N2 canine influenza vaccine in dogs challenged with the virulent virus. *Vet Microbiol.* 143, 184-188.
- 53. Lee C, Song D, Kang B, Kang D, Yoo J, Jung K, Na G, Lee K, Park B, Oh J, 2009. A serological survey of avian origin canine H3N2 influenza virus in dogs in Korea. Vet Microbiol. 137, 359-362.
- Lee HC, Hsu CN, Kuo TF, Wang CH, 2005. Molecular epidemiology of avian influenza virus H6N1 in Taiwan from 2000 to 2003. *Taiwan Vet J.* 31, 230-239.
- 55. Lee MS, Chang PC, Shien JH, Cheng MC, Chen CL, Shieh HK, 2006. Genetic and pathogenic characterization of H6N1 avian influenza viruses isolated in Taiwan between 1972 and 2005. *Avian Dis.* 50, 561-571.
- 56. Lee MS, Chang PC, Shien JH, Cheng MC, Shieh HK, 2001. Identification and subtyping of avian influenza viruses by reverse transcription-PCR. *J Virol Methods*. 97, 13-22.
- 57. Lee YN, Lee DH, Park JK, Yuk SS, Kwon JH, Nahm SS, Lee JB, Park SY, Choi IS, Song CS, 2013.
 Experimental infection and natural contact exposure of ferrets with canine influenza virus (H3N2). *J Gen Virol.* 94, 293-297.
- Li S, Shi Z, Jiao P, Zhang G, Zhong Z, Tian W, Long LP, Cai Z, Zhu X, Liao M, Wan XF, 2010.
 Avian-origin H3N2 canine influenza A viruses in southern China. *Infect Genet Evol.* 10, 1286-1288.
- 59. Lin D, Sun S, Du L, Ma J, Fan L, Pu J, Sun Y, Zhao J, Sun H, Liu J, 2012a. Natural and experimental infection of dogs with pandemic H1N1/2009 influenza virus. *J Gen Virol.* 93, 119-123.
- 60. Lin Y, Zhao Y, Zeng X, Lu C, Liu Y, 2012b. Genetic and pathobiologic characterization of H3N2 canine influenza viruses isolated in the Jiangsu province of China in 2009–2010. Vet Microbiol. 158, 247-258.
- Lipatov AS, Govorkova EA, Webby RJ, Ozaki H, Peiris M, Guan Y, Poon L, Webster RG, 2004.
 Influenza: Emergence and control. J Virol. 78, 8951-8959.
- Lu YS, Sugimura T, Shieh HK, Lee YL, Jong MH, 1985. Isolation and identification of an influenza A virus in ducks in Taiwan. J Chin Soc Vet Med 11, 23-34.

- 63. Maas R, Tacken M, Ruuls L, Koch G, Van Rooij E, Stockhofe-Zurwieden N, 2007. Avian influenza (H5N1) susceptibility and receptors in dogs. *Emerg Infect Dis.* 13, 1219.
- 64. Maher JA, DeStefano J, 2004. The ferret: An animal model to study influenza virus. Lab anim. 33, 50-53.
- 65. Maines TR, Chen LM, Matsuoka Y, Chen H, Rowe T, Ortin J, Falcón A, Hien NT, Sedyaningsih ER, Harun S, 2006. Lack of transmission of H5N1 avian–human reassortant influenza viruses in a ferret model. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 103, 12121-12126.
- McCullers J, Velde LA, Schultz R, Mitchell C, Halford CR, Boyd K, Schultz-Cherry S, 2011.
 Seroprevalence of seasonal and pandemic influenza A viruses in domestic cats. Arch Virol. 156, 117-120.
- 67. Mehle A, Doudna JA, 2009. Adaptive strategies of the influenza virus polymerase for replication in humans. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 106, 21312-21316.
- Munier S, Larcher T, Cormier-Aline F, Soubieux D, Su B, Guigand L, Labrosse B, Cherel Y, Quere P, Marc D, Naffakh N, 2010. A genetically engineered waterfowl influenza virus with a deletion in the stalk of the neuraminidase has increased virulence for chickens. *J Virol.* 84, 940-952.
- Munster VJ, de Wit E, van den Brand JMA, Herfst S, Schrauwen EJA, Bestebroer TM, van de Vijver D, Boucher CA, Koopmans M, Rimmelzwaan GF, *et al.*, 2009. Pathogenesis and transmission of swine-origin 2009 A(H1N1) influenza virus in ferrets. *Science* 325, 481-483.
- Nelson M, Spiro D, Wentworth D, Beck E, Fan J, Ghedin E, Halpin R, Bera J, Hine E, Proudfoot K, et al., 2009. The early diversification of influenza A/H1N1pdm. PLoS Curr. 1, RRN1126.
- 71. Obenauer JC, Denson J, Mehta PK, Su X, Mukatira S, Finkelstein DB, Xu X, Wang J, Ma J, Fan Y, *et al.*, 2006. Large-scale sequence analysis of avian influenza isolates. *Science* 311, 1576-1580.
- Patterson AR, Cooper VL, Yoon K-J, Janke BH, Gauger PC, 2009. Naturally occurring influenza infection in a ferret (mustela putorius furo) colony. J Vet Diagn Invest. 21, 527-530.
- Payungporn S, Crawford PC, Kouo TS, Chen LM, Pompey J, Castleman WL, Dubovi EJ, Katz JM, Donis RO, 2008. Influenza A virus (H3N8) in dogs with respiratory disease, Florida. *Emerg Infect Dis.* 14, 902-908.
- 74. Peiris JM, De Jong MD, Guan Y, 2007. Avian influenza virus (H5N1): A threat to human health. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* 20, 243-267.
- Piccirillo A, Pasotto D, Moreno Martin A, Cordioli P, 2010. Serological survey for influenza type
 A viruses in domestic dogs (Canis lupus familiaris) and cats (Felis catus) in north-eastern

Italy. Zoonoses and Public Health 57, 239-243.

- Pinto LH, Holsinger LJ, Lamb RA, 1992. Influenza virus M2 protein has ion channel activity. Cell 69, 517-528.
- 77. Priestnall SL, Mitchell JA, Walker CA, Erles K, Brownlie J, 2014. New and emerging pathogens in canine infectious respiratory disease. *Vet Pathol.* 51(2), 492-504.
- Renegar KB, 1992. Influenza virus infections and immunity: A review of human and animal models. *Lab Anim Sci.* 42, 222-232.
- 79. Schrauwen EJ, Fouchier RA, 2014. Host adaptation and transmission of influenza A viruses in mammals. *Emerg Microbes Infect.* 3, e9.
- Seiler BM, Yoon K-J, Andreasen CB, Block SM, Marsden S, Blitvich BJ, 2010. Antibodies to influenza A virus (H1 and H3) in companion animals in Iowa, USA. Vet Rec. 167, 705-707.
- Shi W, Shi Y, Wu Y, Liu D, Gao GF, 2013. Origin and molecular characterization of the human-infecting H6N1 influenza virus in Taiwan. *Protein Cell* 4, 846-853.
- Shinde V, Bridges CB, Uyeki TM, Shu B, Balish A, Xu X, Lindstrom S, Gubareva LV, Deyde V, Garten RJ, et al., 2009. Triple-reassortant swine influenza a (H1) in humans in the united states, 2005–2009. N Engl J Med. 360, 2616-2625.
- 83. Smith JH, Nagy T, Driskell E, Brooks P, Tompkins SM, Tripp RA, 2011. Comparative pathology in ferrets infected with H1N1 influenza A viruses isolated from different hosts. J Virol. 85, 7572-7581.
- Smith W, Andrewes CH, Laidlaw PP, 1933. A virus obtained from influenza patients. *Lancet* 222, 66-68.
- 85. Song D, Kang B, Lee C, Jung K, Ha G, Kang D, Park S, Park B, Oh J, 2008. **Transmission of** avian influenza virus (H3N2) to dogs. *Emerg Infect Dis.* 14, 741-746.
- Song D, Lee C, Kang B, Jung K, Oh T, Kim H, Park B, Oh J, 2009. Experimental infection of dogs with avian-origin canine influenza A virus (H3N2). *Emerg Infect Dis.* 15, 56-58.
- 87. Song D, Moon H-J, An D-J, Jeoung H-Y, Kim H, Yeom M-J, Hong M, Nam J-H, Park S-J, Park B-K, et al., 2012. A novel reassortant canine H3N1 influenza virus between pandemic H1N1 and canine H3N2 influenza viruses in Korea. J Gen Virol. 93, 551-554.
- Song QQ, Zhang FX, Liu JJ, Ling ZS, Zhu YL, Jiang SJ, Xie ZJ, 2013. Dog to dog transmission of a novel influenza virus (H5N2) isolated from a canine. *Vet Microbiol.* 161, 331-333.

- Songserm T, Amonsin A, Jam-on R, Sae-Heng N, Meemak N, Pariyothorn N, Payungporn S, Theamboonlers A, Poovorawan Y, 2006a. Avian influenza H5N1 in naturally infected domestic cat. Emerg Infect Dis. 12, 681-683.
- 90. Songserm T, Amonsin A, Jam-on R, Sae-Heng N, Pariyothorn N, Payungporn S, Theamboonlers A, Chutinimitkul S, Thanawongnuwech R, Poovorawan Y, 2006b. Fatal avian influenza a H5N1 in a dog. Emerg Infect Dis. 12, 1744-1747.
- 91. Stevens J, Blixt O, Tumpey TM, Taubenberger JK, Paulson JC, Wilson IA, 2006. Structure and receptor specificity of the hemagglutinin from an H5N1 influenza virus. *Science* 312, 404-410.
- 92. Su S, Li HT, Zhao FR, Chen JD, Xie Jx, Chen ZM, Huang Z, Hu YM, Zhang MZ, Tan LK, 2013a.
 Avian-origin H3N2 canine influenza virus circulating in farmed dogs in guangdong, China.
 Infect Genet Evol. 14, 444-449.
- 93. Su S, Yuan Z, Chen J, Xie J, Li H, Huang Z, Zhang M, Du G, Chen Z, Tu L, 2013b. Short communication: Isolation and phylogenetic analysis of an avian-origin H3N2 canine influenza virus in dog shelter, China. Virus Genes 46, 554-557.
- 94. Subbarao E, London W, Murphy B, 1993. A single amino acid in the PB2 gene of influenza A virus is a determinant of host range. *J Virol.* 67, 1761-1764.
- 95. Sun Y, Shen Y, Zhang X, Wang Q, Liu L, Han X, Jiang B, Wang R, Sun H, Pu J, 2014. A serological survey of canine H3N2, pandemic H1N1/09 and human seasonal H3N2 influenza viruses in dogs in China. Vet Microbiol. 168, 193-196.
- 96. Sun Y, Sun S, Ma J, Tan Y, Du L, Shen Y, Mu Q, Pu J, Lin D, Liu J, 2013. Identification and characterization of avian-origin H3N2 canine influenza viruses in northern China during 2009–2010. Virology 435, 301-307.
- 97. Suzuki Y, 2005. Sialobiology of influenza: Molecular mechanism of host range variation of influenza viruses. *Biol Pharm Bull.* 28, 399-408.
- 98. Swenson SL, Koster LG, Jenkins-Moore M, Killian ML, DeBess EE, Baker RJ, Mulrooney D, Weiss R, Galeota J, Bredthauer A, 2010. Natural cases of 2009 pandemic H1N1 influenza A virus in pet ferrets. J Vet Diagn Invest. 22, 784-788.
- Sy CL, Lee SS, Liu MT, Tsai HC, Chen YS, 2010. Rapid emergence of oseltamivir resistance. Emerg Infect Dis. 16, 723-725.
- Tamura K, Stecher G, Peterson D, Filipski A, Kumar S, 2013. Mega6: Molecular evolutionary genetics analysis version 6.0. *Mol Biol Evol*.30 (12), 2725-2729.

- 101. Thirumala R, Ramaswamy M, Chawla S, 2010. **Diagnosis and management of infectious** complications in critically ill patients with cancer. *Crit Care Clin.* 26, 59-91.
- 102. Tong S, Zhu X, Li Y, Shi M, Zhang J, Bourgeois M, Yang H, Chen X, Recuenco S, Gomez J, et al.,
 2013. New world bats harbor diverse influenza A viruses. *PLoS Pathog.* 9, e1003657.
- Uyeki TM, Cox NJ, 2013. Global concerns regarding novel influenza A (H7N9) virus infections. N Engl J Med. 368, 1862-1864.
- 104. Wang H, Jia K, Qi W, Zhang M, Sun L, Liang H, Du G, Tan L, Shao Z, Ye J, 2013. Genetic characterization of avian-origin H3N2 canine influenza viruses isolated from guangdong during 2006–2012. Virus Genes 46, 558-562.
- 105. Ward CL, Dempsey MH, Ring CJ, Kempson RE, Zhang L, Gor D, Snowden BW, Tisdale M, 2004.
 Design and performance testing of quantitative real time PCR assays for influenza A and B
 viral load measurement. J Clin Virol. 29, 179-188.
- 106. Webster RG, Bean WJ, Gorman OT, Chambers TM, Kawaoka Y, 1992. Evolution and ecology of influenza A viruses. *Mol Bio. Rev.* 56, 152-179.
- 107. Webster RG, Yakhno M, Hinshaw VS, Bean WJ, Copal Murti K, 1978. Intestinal influenza:
 Replication and characterization of influenza viruses in ducks. *Virology* 84, 268-278.
- 108. Wei SH, Yang JR, Wu HS, Chang MC, Lin JS, Lin CY, Liu YL, Lo YC, Yang C-H, Chuang JH, 2013. Human infection with avian influenza a H6N1 virus: An epidemiological analysis. *Lancet Respir Med.* 1, 771-778.
- 109. WHO, 2010. Update on oseltamivir-resistant pandemic a (H1N1) 2009 influenza virus: January 2010. Wkly Epidemiol Rec. 85, 37-110.
- Wright PF, Webster RG, 2001. Orthomyxoviruses. In: Knipe DM., Howley PM, Griffin DE, Lamb RA, Martin MA, Roizman B, Straus SE (Eds). Fields virology: Fields virology, 4th ed. *Lippincott Williams & Wilkins*, Philadelphia, USA. pp. 1533-1579.
- Wu Y, Wu Y, Tefsen B, Shi Y, Gao GF, 2014. Bat-derived influenza-like viruses H17N10 and H18N11. Trends Microbiol. 22, 183-191.
- Yang JR, Huang YP, Chang FY, Hsu LC, Lin YC, Su CH, Chen PJ, Wu HS, Liu MT, 2011. New variants and age shift to high fatality groups contribute to severe successive waves in the 2009 influenza pandemic in Taiwan. *PLoS One.* 6, e28288.
- 113. Yang JR, Kuo CY, Huang HY, Wu FT, Huang YL, Cheng CY, Su YT, Chang FY, Wu -S, Liu MT,
 2014. Newly emerging mutations in the matrix genes of the human influenza A(H1N1)pdm09

and A(H3N2) viruses reduce the detection sensitivity of real-time reverse transcription-PCR. *J Clin Microbiol.* 52, 76-82.

- Yen H, Lipatov AS, Ilyushina NA, Govorkova EA, Franks J, Yilmaz N, Douglas A, Hay A, Krauss S, Rehg JE, 2007. Inefficient transmission of H5N1 influenza viruses in a ferret contact model. *J Virol.* 81, 6890-6898.
- 115. Yoon KJ, Schwartz K, Sun D, Zhang J, Hildebrandt H, 2012. Naturally occurring influenza A virus subtype H1N2 infection in a midwest united states mink (mustela vison) ranch. J Vet Diagn Invest. 24, 388-391.
- Yuan J, Zhang L, Kan X, Jiang L, Yang J, Guo Z, Ren Q, 2013. Origin and molecular characteristics of a novel 2013 avian influenza A (H6N1) virus causing human infection in Taiwan. *Clin Infect Dis.* 57, 1367-1368.
- 117. Zhan GJ, Ling ZS, Zhu YL, Jiang SJ. Xie ZJ, 2012. Genetic characterization of a novel influenza A virus H5N2 isolated from a dog in China. *Vet Microbiol.* 155, 409-416.
- Zitzow LA, Rowe T, Morken T, Shieh WJ, Zaki S, Katz JM, 2002. Pathogenesis of avian influenza A (H5N1) viruses in ferrets. J Virol. 76, 4420-4429.